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NEWSLETTER No. 25 – AUTUMN 2019 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

1. From the Chairman 
 

We held our seventh Annual General Meeting at Newbiggin Hall on Saturday 14 

September.  A record number of members, (44), attended, along with the owners of 

the hall, and Tank the dog!  It was a memorable day. (See Stuart's report, on page 

twelve). Thank you to all who attended and helped on the day, and the three, Paul, 

John and Barbara, who went the day before, to bring chairs from the stable, and 

make preparations for refreshments.  We must not leave out Gordon, Barbara's 

husband, who baked delicious pastries for us. Grateful thanks to Merrilyn and Henry 

Sawrey-Cookson, for allowing us to enjoy their home, inside and out,and for their time 

in guiding us round. 
 

More thanks go to all those members who have renewed their membership so 

promptly.  We welcome several new members, and hope that they will find much of 

interest to come, as we see more of Cumbria's buildings. 
 

A special welcome to the three new committee members – Francesca Halfacree, 

John McDowell and Paul Lewis. This is the first time we have made a major addition to 

the committee, who, apart from Hannah, have been with us since our foundation in 

2013.  They continue to give loyal service. 
 

Could we urge as many of you as possible to attend the next two events – on 10 

October at Croglin, for an exploration of vernacular buildings in three Pennine Edge 

villages.  It should result in material to take to the Fellfoot Forward project, organised 

by the North Pennine Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (NPAONB), in the spring. 
 

The event on 9 November at Burgh by Sands, should provide a great step forward in 

our understanding of Cumbria's built heritage. It is especially important that we have a 

good turn-out to hear the speakers, all specialists in their field.   

As there is a limit on numbers for the Christmas lunch, we now have to close bookings. 

With numbers attending our events increasing, we hope to cater for everyone who 

wants to join in, next year. 
 

The programme of events for 2020 is shaping up well and will be with you at the end of 

December.  The committee is looking towards developing a series of sub-committees 

or working parties, to develop our work. Editorial/publishing/proof reading; 

bookings/events; recording/reports; by establishing these groups, the workload would 

be greatly eased. 
 

Lastly, my personal thanks to the committee and individual members for their hard 

work and support.  This group could not function without you ■ 
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2.  Report on visit to Maulds Meaburn: 6th July, 2019 – Stuart Harling 
 

About thirty members assembled at the well-appointed Village Institute to hear 

June introduce our visit to this lovely village in which June and Roy have now 

made their home. 

 

We heard that Maulds Meaburn (Meaburn = “meadow by the stream”) was 

half of a manor (separate from Crosby Ravensworth), the other half being Kings 

Meaburn; the latter being forfeit to the king and the former passing to Maude 

de Morville.  After hearing a brief history of the village (which is an archetypal 

example of a mediaeval village, lying on both banks of the Lyvennet Beck) we 

were advised that most properties are or were © 

 

Hannah Kingsbury then 

gave a well-researched 

presentation on Meaburn 

Hill Farmhouse, dating 

back to the mid to late 

17th century with 

additions in 1708 and 

1753. Many original 

features remain, 

including spice and court 

cupboards, fire window, 

stone fireplaces, a heck, 

panelling, an old 

wooden door with 

original fastenings and traces of an old staircase under the current one. The 

Westmorland slate roof with diminishing courses has coping and kneelers. The 

windows were of many styles, mullioned, sash and Yorkshire sash, reflecting the 

history of the construction of the property. Hannah had also researched old 

maps, the former owners and tenants as well as consulting census returns and 

inventories. 
 

We all then visited the property to see what we had been told: always a 

privilege and a joy. Much though the publications of Ronald Brunskill and Susan 

Denyer describe and illustrate vernacular buildings, nothing surpasses an 

opportunity to see the features personally. 
 

After lunch we separated into small groups and were given the opportunity to 

view, both externally and (with the kind permission of the owners) also 

internally, many properties in the village. My property was a former mill of the 

Lowther estate, now a private dwelling. The mill workings had been 

sympathetically preserved and the mill race and sluice were able to be clearly 

seen on the surrounding land. 
 

 

 

Meaburn Hill Farmhouse © John McDowell 
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Finally, we all visited Meaburn Hall, 

one of the two properties (with 

Flass House) mentioned by 

Pevsner. We were shown into the 

house and given a brief history. It 

was rebuilt in the sixteenth century 

but in 1750 Sir James Lowther 

(“wicked Jimmy”) had part of the 

centre of the building pulled down 

and this was eventually replaced 

with a single-storey structure, 

joining the north and south wings.   

There are two pavilions in the south 

garden (a bowling green), one 

housing a multi-hole privy. The roof 

valleys visible from the front of the 

Hall show the wonderful valley slating (which would now be lead-valley guttering). This 

was an addition to my personal list of vernacular features and a joy to behold. 
 

We are all indebted to the Committee (and to June, in particular) for arranging our 

events and for giving us the opportunity to experience vernacular buildings as well as 

to the kind and generous owners for their ready willingness to share with us their 

wonderful, and often unique homes ■ 

 

 
 

3.  Traditional Farm Building surveying opportunity – Westmorland Dales 
 

The Westmorland Dales Landscape Partnership Scheme (the scheme area is outlined 

in red on the map) runs for four years and is funded by the National Lottery Heritage 

Fund. There are 21 projects in total, 10 of which are specifically to do with the cultural 

heritage of the area. One of these projects is Traditional Farm Buildings. Over the four 

years we are hoping to survey all the TFBs in the Westmorland Dales. We will be 

running a weekend training event on the 16 – 17th November in Crosby Ravensworth. If 

you would like to attend or have any queries  get in touch with Hannah Kingsbury 

(Cultural Heritage Officer, WDLP) by emailing Hannah-Kingsbury@fld.org.uk or ringing 

01539 756624. If you would like to hear about all the Westmorland Dales opportunities 

and news you can subscribe to our newsletter here www.thewestmorlanddales.org.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Meaburn Hall and swept valley to roof © Stuart Harling 

 

 

 

mailto:Hannah-Kingsbury@fld.org.uk
http://www.thewestmorlanddales.org.uk/
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4. LOOKING AT BARNS AND FARMHOUSES IN THE SWINDALE AND NADDLE VALLEY 

 

An Introduction by June Hill 
 

The Swindale and Naddle valleys form part of the nature Reserve run by the 

Royal Society for the Protection of Birds. (RSPB).   The land was compulsarily 

purchased by Manchester Corporation in the 1920s, to provide water for the 

city, and was taken over by United Utilities.  RSPB  leases the area and it is now 

farmed on an extensive basis, as one farm, to provide a habitat for wildlife.  

Sheep are the only farm livestock grazing the land.  
  
Formerly, the valleys provided a living for many farming families.  There was a 

school and a chapel of ease, within living memory. Both are now gone. The 

many barns and some farmhouses are redundant and most are disused.  The 

RSPB has no use for them, and no funds to maintain them.  It is important that 

CVBG makes a record of what remains. Thanks are due to Lee Scofield. Who 

gave a good introduction to the Naddle group, and to one of our members, 

Robert White, for his comprehensive talk on barns and field houses of the 

region.  Robert used to work with the Yorkshire Dales National Park as an 

archaeologist, and has a thorough knowledge of the landscape and buildings 

of the area. 
   
The day we visited Naddle and Swindale proved to be very rewarding.  

Members worked in small groups to report on the condition and features of four 

barns (one previously a house) in Swindale, and a galleried barn and 

seventeenth century farmhouse at Naddle.  The latter is now the headquarters 

of the RSPB reserve, with offices, accommodation for volunteers, workshops 

and a kitchen. Part of the house is lived in by a farm worker, but we looked 

around most of the buildings. Of the features listed in the Royal Commission 

volume for Westmorland, 1936, very little remains. The smokehood and post and 

muntin partition wall have gone, but the seventeenth century stairs remain.   

The reports by our small groups, on Naddle and the Swindale barns are 

excellent, and will form part of an occasional paper on Cumbrian Barns, in 

preparation ■  
 

4a. Event report prepared by Anna Gray and Graham Brooks 
 

On Wednesday 21 August, around 36 members of CVBG met at Brampton 

Memorial Hall to hear Rob White, former archaeologist with the Yorkshire Dales 

National Park Authority give a presentation on field barns. Examples were 

drawn primarily in the Yorkshire Dales, with mention of the major issues to do 

with conserving and restoring these distinctive elements in the landscape that 

have little practical use today. After lunch, we divided into several groups, 

each looking at specific barn and farmhouse structures in the Swindale and 

Naddle valleys.  
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Naddle Farm is all that remains of the long-forgotten village of Naddle that 

once nestled at the foot of the valley.  The farm and its outbuildings are now 

occupied by the RSPB who manage the area around Haweswater for wildlife 

conservation.  We were met by Lee Schofield who gave us an overview of the 

farm and its adjacent galleried barn. 

   

The galleried barn is orientated east−west and built of undressed local stone 

(Borrowdale Volcanic) with some large pieces used for quoins etc. The roof is 

local slate. The east end is 2 storeys high, while the west end is a single storey 

with cart doors in the north and south sides.  At the east end, the ground floor is 

split into two rooms accessed by single doors in the north wall protected by the 

gallery. Each room was used to house cattle with three double stalls on each 

side of the central passage. The divisions between stalls are all wooden and 

one feed rack remains. The galleried section was added later and ran the full 

length of the barn.  We were shown images of the original gallery (undated) 

though the original wooden supports had been replaced by concrete posts at 

some point before 1975 – see photo. 

  

The evolution of the farmhouse was more difficult to work out.  The first written 

record dates from 1590 (though there is little evidence of the Elizabethan house 

today).  The main range of the house faces due east, and a cross passage 

appears to link the original front door with one at the rear.  In the early 17th C, 

the farmhouse was extended to the north.  By the late 17th C, a new wing had 

been added to the rear and a fine wooden staircase placed in the angle 

between the new wing and the original house.   

 
Image © Anna Gray 

cont’d...

/ 
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The staircase was admired for its unusual ‘splat’ balusters, wide stair treads and 

neat dovetailed jointing on the banister rail.  At the base of the staircase, an 

early plank and muntin door may have come from the original Elizabethan 

house. 

A datestone of TW 1792 

refers to Thomas Wilson 

who probably extended 

the house to the south in 

the late 18th century. 

 

Thanks to everyone in the 

group who provided 

comments, architectural 

knowledge and 

photographic skills to enable us to reach these conclusions ■  
 

 

 
 

 

 

5.  Holiday Snaps Feature 
 

Interesting images of the ‘vernacular’ seen by members on their holiday travels. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Dovetailed banister rail © Anna Gray 

 

 

Little Clarendon House, Dinton, Wiltshire, 

is a N.T. property built late 15th century but 

nothing is known about its history until 1697 

when it was bought by yeoman farmer 

Henry Hayter. 

 

Image  Marion Coupe 

 

 

 

 

 

Built as a summerhouse c1761 on the 

estate of Lord Dunmore, nr Falkirk, the 

Pineapple adornment appeared 

in1777. Now a Landmark Trust 

property. 

 

Image Mike Turner 
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6.  A MYSTERIOUS FIND AT TOWNEND, TROUTBECK. 
 

Built around 1626 by George Browne, a wealthy Statesman, Townend was 

acquired by the National Trust in 1943 and was listed Grade I in 1967 because it 

represented a remarkably unaltered example of a wealthy Yeoman’s house. 

Owned by the Browne family for over 300 years, it contains fine examples of 

furniture, carving and the one of the country’s top three private libraries. 

 

 
Townend, as restored 2016 © Paul Lewis 

 

In 2016 the National Trust required the repair of the external fabric following the 

discovery of serious decay in some structural timbers in the walls, some of which 

supported the first floor jetty. The stability of the front wall was in peril and 

urgent repairs were needed to replace decayed timbers and renew the lime 

render and limewash on the exterior of the building. The Author was 

commissioned to manage the restoration works. 
 

As the old lime render and plasters were removed, a careful programme of 

recording was established to note the positions of old door and window 

openings so that the development of the building through the centuries could 

be understood; there were many surprises. Part of an original fire hood was 

discovered when a ceiling was removed in the fire house, but a most puzzling 

find was a lead ball buried in a carefully prepared aperture in the external wall. 
 

Image 2 shows the area of the front wall between the fire house and the down 

house when the lime render was removed. This part of the front wall had 

originally been a large door opening, possibly a cross passage; the old oak 

lintel remained and the line of the former opening was clearly visible within the 

masonry. The lead ball is shown below where it was found, carefully buried 

behind the render. Image 3 shows the ball in more detail with a small iron ring in 

the top. Its discovery sparked a lot of discussion amongst the conservation 

team on its former use and why it had been hidden away, possibly for over 200 

years. 

cont’d.../ 
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Image 2&3- When the render was removed, the mysterious lead ball was discovered in a carefully 

prepared aperture within an old door opening © Paul Lewis 
 

The association of the find within a former door opening hinted strongly that the 

lead ball served as a chain weight and acted as an automatic door-closing 

device. However, many theories followed in discussion on why the artefact was 

obscured with the intention of never being seen again in the light of day.  
 

One theory that gained much support was that this practice followed a 

superstition that the owner was thereafter protected from evil spirits; it was 

believed that the malevolent would be first drawn to the personal artefact, 

rather than progress through the walls to torment the owner. 

The mystery remains unsolved and other similar finds may yet throw more light 

on this practice of old ■ 
 

Paul Lewis BSc.MRICS 

RICS Accreditation in Building Conservation. September 2019 
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7.  Inscription over fireplace in Penrith – Sheila Fletcher, Lazonby 
 

We have been researching the history of two buildings in St Andrews Square: 

number 8, Daffodil tearoom and numbers 9 and 10 Timeless hairdressers. The 

whole area around Sandgate in Penrith and St Andrews Square contains many 

interesting and historic buildings, many dating from c17th. 
 

The datestone on number 8 reads 1709? Or 2? And was originally two small 

dwellings with many interesting features inside indicating this. Parish registers 

show that a shoemaker named Andrew Barton and family lived there from this 

date with three children. Subsequently, the two house were lived in by families 

possibly including small workshops. 
 

Blocked windows and chimney arrangement show alterations over the years 

and two staircases, one spiral and one, now disused, which indicates a side 

passage since roofed over. 

9 and 10 are Grade Two listed with a date c18th. They seem to have been 

mostly for commercial use as the changing shopfronts from early photos show. 

Originally two buildings, the interior arrangements of fireplaces, chimney 

breasts, doorways and stairs (again two, one very small and spiral) include 

some later alterations. 
 

The most interesting feature here is a 

board over a downstairs fireplace 

engraved ‘No Cross -1862 - No Crown’ 

relating to William Penn’s book of this 

name written while he was imprisoned 

in the Tower of London, Jeremy 

Godwin, historian of Penrith, doubts 

that this is an inscription of this date, 

but a later copy. 
 

Adjoining the former Market Halls, 

these two buildings back on to a once 

run-down and disease-ridden area locally called the “Bug Hole”, which the 

Board of Health made several attempts to clean up from the late c19th 

onwards. 
 

These properties demonstrate the fascinating social and commercial history of 

Penrith and a close study has revealed architecturally significant changes for 

some 300 years ■ 
 

 

Additional notes from June Hill 
 

“William Penn was one of the first Quakers. He wrote the book No Cross, No Crown, first published in 

1669, at the age of 24, when imprisoned for blasphemy. The inscription in Penrith is clearly a copy or 

replacement of an earlier one, as it is in the elegant script of the eighteenth century, matching the style 

of the ground floor fireplace”. 
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8.  A new title from The Crowood Press 

 

 

From CVBG member Dr Alan Smith and may be 

of interest to newsletter readers. 

 

A simple easy to read guide to the rocks of the 

English Lake District, 160 page paperback book 

with 185 colour photos, 11 diagrams and 3 maps.  

 

 

RRP- £16.99. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

9.  Next CVBG Event – Thursday 10 October 2019 
 

Evidence for change: Pennine Edge Villages 

10am – 3pm – Meet at Croglin Village Hall 
 

Assemble for coffee at 10am 

Introduction by June Hill 

Lunch, bring packed lunch, Tea/Coffee 

available 

In three groups, explore villages with:- 

CROGLIN with Ruth Lawley 

NEWBIGGIN with Bruce Bennison 

CUMREW with Richard Wilson 

Looking for evidence of change. Also, find 

vernacular buildings from late medieval times, 

to the eighteen century and possibly later. 
 

The villages are small and fairly level, so not much walking is required. Most of 

the buildings can be seen from the roads. It may be possible to enter at least 

one building in each village. 

 

Your last chance to book; the deadline is 3rd October, cost £5, the fast 

way to book is via BACS payment, details on the inside back cover of this 

newsletter. 
 

Attendees will receive notification and map before the event. 

 

 

 
 Image courtesy of facebook 
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10.  WARWICK BRIDGE CORN MILL- Article & images © Graham Brooks 
 

After nearly thirty years of standing derelict and slowly deteriorating the 

restoration of the mill building is now complete and shortly the machinery will be 

back working and the mill will be grinding flour on a commercial basis again. The 

restoration has been supervised by Cultura (previously known as North East Civic 

Trust) who bought the mill in 2015 with funding from the HLF. 

 

The main mill building is a square three 

storey red sandstone structure with a 

pyramidal slate roof built probably in 

1803 as stated in a newspaper advert for 

the letting of the mill in 1804. To this basic 

structure has been added a number of 

extensions. These include a corn drying 

kiln and a barn and cart house.  

 

The kiln on the downstream side is a two 

storey building with a typical inverted 

cone inside above the fire box. The kiln 

floor is level with the stone floor of the main building. The drying floor was covered 

with cast iron plates of which there are a number of variations. The drying floor 

also a number of windows which are covered by wooden louvres which can be 

open and closed by turning a central spindle. The slate roof has a large wooden 

cowl on the ridge. The gable end contains a two hole dovecote. A second 

dovecot is present above the cart house door. 

 

An extension on the opposite side of the mill 

provides small rooms, on the ground floor the room 

was used a store for the chaff off the oat winnower. 

On the stone floor the room was fitted with a 

fireplace with a salt glazed chimney pot by T & J 

Nelson of Carlisle. 

Unfortunately due to the limited access to the site 

and lack of parking it is not possible to open the 

mill to the general public, but it is hoped to be 

able to run regular organised tours for groups and 

milling days for those who want to get hands on.  

The mill is to be run by a Community Benefit 

Society in which shares will be available in the near 

future ■ 

 

 If you would like more information on the mill you can contact the mill via email 

at warwickbridgecornmill@gmail.com. 

 

 

 

mailto:warwickbridgecornmill@gmail.com
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11.  Report on A.G.M. and visit to Newbiggin Hall, Temple Sowerby 
 

The splendid setting of Newbiggin Hall, Temple Sowerby was our venue for this 

year’s well-attended AGM and the owners, Henry and Merrilyn Sawrey-

Cookson made us most welcome. The Hall is a fortified and castellated border 

house constructed of rosy red sandstone. Mrs Sawrey-Cookson afterwards 

showed us around the Hall and its grounds and nearby Chapel , joiner’s shop 

and a unique outbuilding. 

The AGM ran its usual brief and efficient course. June outlined the wish of the 

committee to work towards more delegation, to continue to provide a varied 

programme throughout Cumbria and to encourage participation. Mike 

Kingsbury reported we now have 169 members, of which we regularly see up to 

30 or 40 at most meetings. Finances were in good heart. All members of the 

committee offered themselves for re-election and three more members were 

voted onto the committee. The AGM in September 2020 will be at Stott Park 

Bobbin Mill in the south of the County ■ 
Stuart Harling, September 2019. 

 

(N.B. Due to a lack of space the report and images for the tour of Newbiggin Hall will be held over until the next newsletter). 

 

12.   Notes about forthcoming events. 

 
a) Study Day, Burgh by Sands, Saturday November 9th: Bookings can be made up to 

the 2nd November, included with this newsletter is a flyer with full details about the day 

and speakers. Please book through Mike Kingsbury in the usual way, his contact 

details are listed on the inside rear cover of the newsletter. 

 

b) Christmas Lunch, Wednesday 11th December: this event is now fully subscribed and 

members who have booked and paid will receive with this newsletter, a menu for their 

personal choices to be made. Would members make sure they email the secretary 

miketurner4@hotmail.co.uk with their choice by 1ST November so that the Distillery can 

make the necessary arrangements. Full details about the tour of Isel Hall prior to the 

lunch with travel guidance and timings will be sent via email to all attendees. 
 

(A waiting list can be made with Mike Kingsbury in the event of cancellations, but no monies should be 

paid until confirmation from Mike is received). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Meaburn Hill House © Richard Speirs 

mailto:miketurner4@hotmail.co.uk

